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Friday, May 18, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  This is Day 5 of the oral hearing on applications by Enbridge Gas and Union Gas for leave to amalgamate and for a rate-setting framework.


We are here today to finish off panel 3.  At that point we will take a break and then move to the evidence of Energy Probe.

Preliminary Matters:

We have a couple preliminary matters.  The OEB previously determined that the PEG working papers would be treated confidential for the time being.  The Panel confirms that the PEG working papers are granted confidential treatment per the OEB's practice directions.


Also, Mr. Cass, there was an Undertaking K4.4, I believe it was, which was the savings with a 0.3 percent stretch factor applied.  Do you have the response for us on that at this point, or do you want to do it after the break?


MR. CASS:  I believe that was K4.1, Madam Chair, as I recall.


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.


MR. KITCHEN:  J4.1.


MR. CASS:  J, J4.1, my apologies.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  Okay.


MR. CASS:  And, yes, the applicants have been working out how they would respond to the undertaking.  The witnesses, I believe, can address that further if the Board Panel desires.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, I would like to hear what the undertaking would be.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, we have commenced work on it in the back shop.  We're endeavouring to, as you've heard me mention a few times in this proceeding, to figure out how that would be applicable in the custom index that would be resident in the standalone base numbers, so we are working through that at this point in time.


You will see in the response it is not our intention at this point to try to figure out every single line item in FRPO 11 that would be impacted.  That would be quite an ordeal.  So we are looking to provide it at a high level, in terms of how it would work in a custom index.  We haven't reached a finality at this point in time, but we're working through that and should have it early next week.


MS. ANDERSON:  And so you are saying best efforts to provide the level -- the most level detail that you can in the time frame we have?


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, we will work it through how we believe.  In my mind there is likely to be debate about how it would be applicable in a custom index, perhaps, so we'll provide our assumptions, et cetera, inside of how we do it.


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.


Those were my only preliminary matters.  Are there any others?  Yes, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  I have one preliminary matter, Madam Chair, if I may.


On May 14th, the witness explained how the applicants could address Undertaking J3.5.  That was, I think, pages 82 and 83 of Volume 3 of the transcript.  There's been further discussions about how that undertaking will be answered.


In addition to what was said at the transcript reference I've given to you, the applicants have agreed that they will also provide a table showing the percent allocators and dollar impact related to capital pass-through and the value of the surplus capacity of 106 TJs.


So it will be what was indicated.  I think it's actually page 83 of Volume 3 of the transcript, and this additional information that I just described.  And I think that's resolved with parties, the appropriate scope of the undertaking response.


MS. ANDERSON:  And I'm not seeing Mr. Quinn here, and I believe it was his letter.  I assume that those discussions included Mr. Quinn?


MR. CASS:  Yes, they did.  Yes they did, Madam Chair.


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.


Any other preliminary matters?  I'm seeing heads down, so I assume none.  So we are calling back up panel 3, and I guess according to the schedule, that was Mr. Garner.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION/UNION GAS - PANEL 3:  DVA, ACCOUNTING, RATE HARMONIZATION, resumed
Mark Kitchen,

Amy Mikhaila,

Kevin Culbert,

Anton Kacicnik,

Greg Tetreault; Previously Affirmed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Good morning, panel.  I will try to be quick on the sunny morning before long weekend, but I have to warn you, Mr. Quinn has left me a question for you, so we may take a little bit more time.


I want to start with tab 1 -- I'm sorry, we -- I should start with, we provided a compendium.  I hope you have it.  We gave it in hard copy, and hopefully everybody has a hard copy and electronic, because when we get to the next tab we are going to look at a coloured map.  It might help.


But if we could get a -- I don't believe it has an exhibit number, this -- this thing, item...


MS. SPOEL:  Do we have it up here, do you think?  Thanks.


MR. MILLAR:  It is -- it will be Exhibit K5.1.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 3.


MR. GARNER:  If the panel has that in front of them.


The first half we've extracted is the Board's decision in Union's last -- I believe its rates case, IRM case.  And in this, you will see highlighted part of the Board's decision with respect to the cost allocation, and Ms. Mikhaila, I know we've had a discussion at the technical conference a little bit around this, but I am still struggling with your interpretation, I believe, and we'll explore that, and what I believe seems to be very clear to me from what the Board said in here, and really it's the first line where the Board says:

"The OEB is of the view that any change to the existing cost allocation model should be done with the assistance of a comprehensive system-wide full cost allocation.  Cost allocation is a zero sum exercise."

And they go on to say:

"A full study ensures that all changes to facilities and operations used in transmission system since development of previous cost allocation model are recognized across all customer classes."

Now, what I believe I heard you indicate is that as part of this regime what Amalco would be doing is looking at what I'd call components of its cost allocation, for instance Panhandle, in order to deal with those.  And I'm having a struggle making what you are proposing jive with what I'm reading.  Can you help me with that?


MS. MIKHAILA:  What we are trying to -- what we were trying to address in making parties aware that we intended to -- what we were trying to address when we made parties aware through our application that we were going to bring forward a proposal for the Panhandle cost allocation was we knew it was an outstanding commitment we had made, and in the Board's decision in this case, as well as in the Panhandle reinforcement project, it was indicated that it would be addressed in the '19 rates application.


Understand, without a full cost allocation study, with updated costs, it is challenging.  We were just trying to address the outstanding commitment at this time.


MR. GARNER:  Well, I understand the difficulty about the Panhandle issue in and of itself that arose in that case.  But I'm still not clear, it seems clear from reading this, is the Board's indicating that it will be -- it's difficult to take that one component and do it, and what I'm struggling with is how what you might propose to do in the Panhandle issue, for instance, would differ other than in methodology to what you had already proposed to do and the Board has rejected.


I mean, it may differ in the allocators at the technical and may -- I understand could be different, but it doesn't seem to me, in principle, as a principal matter, it would be a different form of cost allocation than the one the Board has already reviewed and rejected on that principled basis.  That's where I'm having the problem.


MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Garner, I think that before Ms. Mikhaila responds, there is something that I just want to sort of put into context, and that is in the 2018 rates application, Union actually didn't bring forward the proposal to change to cost allocation.  So we didn't lead any evidence on cost allocation in the '18 rates application.  We had always intended to do that as part of the '19 rates application, and so the Board never heard our evidence as to why the cost allocation change is appropriate for Panhandle without doing a full cost allocation study, and that's what we will be intending to bring forward in '19.

Second, I don't think that the Board at the time really considered cost allocation in the context of a MAADs proceeding.  So I do think there is -- there is a bit of a difference here, that they were dealing with something that was specific to the 2018 rates application, not this application, nor our proposal.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I think that helps, thank you.  I think I'll move on to the next question if I can, or the next tab.

We are staying on cost allocation rate design.  But in the next tab, and it does help if there is a coloured picture.  And I apologize to the panel if they are only using the black and white one that I circulated.

But what I wanted to do with this -- and again, we had a bit of a discussion at the technical conference about trying to find a good representation of the bordered areas of Enbridge and Union, and unfortunately I think the person you assigned to help me have a more detailed map decided instead to go on a beach holiday.  And you and I, Mr. Kitchen, can share in that resentment.

But this map actually will probably work fine.  As it was suggested to me at the tech conference, maybe I can use it and in fact I can.  So let's just look at this map, because I think I can make the same sort of points on it.

Now, Ms. Mikhaila, the thing I first want to talk to you about is the northern zone and the southern zones of Union Gas.  And one of the things I want to start to understand is a little bit about the difference in cost allocation and rate design in that.

The first thing I'd want to ask you is that you'd agree with me, wouldn't you, in the exercise that you do, they’re really separate components.  There is the idea of cost allocation and then, once costs are allocated, there is the concept of rate design in order to best recover those costs.

Is that correct?  That's the way you see it?

MS. MIKHAILA:  There are two components, but cost allocated really does work towards and is only useful for rate design.

MR. GARNER:  Sure.  And we'll talk a little bit later about that, because I want to ask you a few questions about that.

But the for the purpose right now, I want to understand just from -- what's happening right now in the Union zone, in the Union case.

In the northern zone, do they have the same rate designs as the southern zone?  Like, are the rate structures the same?

MS. MIKHAILA:  No, the rate structures aren't the same.  The rates are not the same.

MR. GARNER:  And the cost allocation, when you do the cost allocation for the northern zone versus the southern zone, are there differences in that cost allocation due to, I don't know, historical and/or physical attributes of those two zones?

MS. MIKHAILA:  It's all completed as one cost allocation study, so there are some costs the company incurs that are allocated between the two zones.

But there are costs that are specific to each.  Like, the assets of each soap are maintained separately so they can be allocated to those zones independently.

The zones are also served very differently with the northwest zone being served from Empress and the south and northeast being served from Dawn.  So they consider those types of things.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, that’s very helpful, because that’s what I thought, too.  Because I can describe the northern zone as basically feeding off of TCPL’s main line, tapping off of that.  It has some specific, directly assigned lines assets that go into that cost allocation study, which is done, I know, as a whole.  But they have directly assigned due to that particular circumstance.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Well, there’s upstream assets that can be identified for the north.  But there is also Union's own internal assets that are separately identified between the south and the north.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you, that's very helpful.

Let's talk a little bit about what you were saying about rate structure being, you seemed to imply, very inextricably linked with cost allocation.  But isn't it true that when generally, when you are doing your cost allocation, you are not changing rate structures?

I mean, you don't generally change, for instance, the block rating or things.  You don't do that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Not in the cost allocation exercise.

MR. GARNER:  But what I'm asking is:  Has it generally been the case to make major rate structure changes as part of your cost allocation and rate design evidence before the Board?  Because I haven't seen that.  Generally, there may be tweaks on it, but you don't generally make very big changes to the rate structures?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I don't think as part of the cost allocation exercise.  But I don't think we've made big changes to cost -- to the rate design structure.  We have proposed things in the past.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, some individual things.  The only reason I'm asking is it seems to me quite feasible -- if you would have a ten-year period in which you were under this type of thing, it still seems to me quite feasible that you could, over time, run cost allocations, look at the cost allocations so that the costs were better or more fairly allocated under Amalco than they are currently under the existing arrangements, much in the same way that I am hearing that over time you did that with the northern region when you acquired it from Centra -- I think it was Centra at the time.

So over time, you tweaked your cost allocation model in order to make it more appropriate for that set of assets.

MR. KAKICNIK:  Perhaps I'll take this one.  I think it's worthwhile to take a step back and ask ourselves what is the purpose of cost allocation.

In a cost of service regime, we look at costs and then we ask ourselves how do we recover those costs from different rate classes, and cost allocation helps with us that.  It provides guidance to rate design process by telling rate design, okay, recover this much from your residential customers, this much from commercial and so forth.

So it is an essential part of cost of service rate-making.

When we are in an incentive regulation regime, rates are deed decoupled from costs, and what governs rate-making in incentive regulation is the formula.

So formula provide guidance to the rate design, how to design rates, unlike cost of service, where we are talking about cost and cost allocated.  And that is the key differentiation between the two regimes.

So to assume or imply that we could be doing cost allocation while we are in an incentive regulation regime doesn't jibe with how rates are set in incentive regulation.

MS. SPOEL:  I just want to make sure I understand what you're saying.  You’re saying is that -- so once you are in an incentive regulation for whatever length of time, essentially any existing inequities -- I won't call them inequities, but any issues that there might be at the beginning, or at a certain point in time, can't be adjusted for as between rate classes.  Like let's say residential is paying more than they should compared to industrial or, you know, or vice versa, or a certain part of the southern region is perhaps paying more than the northern region should, or whatever the cost allocation is.

What you are saying is that as long as you in that incentive rate-making regime, you can't fix any of that until the end of that, until there is a rebase -- a full cost of service of rebasing?

MR. KAKICNIK:  The short answer is yes.  Like I would say that in your last cost-of-service here, rates are set and those are deemed to be just and reasonable.  And from there, the focus shifts away from costs and cost allocation to rate-setting only through the formula.

So the formula, it will be the one who will set rates, and that will then support rates being viable and fair to the customers.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, thanks.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Member Spoel.  And in fact, I'd like to follow that up.  I think Member Spoel is exactly wondering what I'm wondering.

I think -- and I don't want to get into argument, but I think one can make the suggestion that notwithstanding all of that, over ten years customers are still required to have a just and reasonable rate, and that that rate doesn't reflect the costs that they impose on the system.  If over time that becomes significantly different, one might argue the customer's no longer receiving a just and reasonable rate, so I'm not trying to argue the point, Mr. Kacicnik, but I'm simply saying is one might take that position and that point, and that's what I'm exploring in this case.

I'm trying to understand how those issues of cost might diverge over a ten-year period and how, if so, those things then might be addressed.

But I think, having said that, I think I'll move on and ask another question regarding the --


MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Garner, Mr. Garner, I think that --


MR. GARNER:   Go ahead, Mr. --


MR. KITCHEN:  -- you know, we've had -- several times we've talked about the length of the deferred rebasing period in the context of cost allocation, and we've also indicated that over the deferred rebasing period we are going to look at how we would bring rates together and harmonize rates.

I think that it might be worthwhile if Amalco was to commit at some point through the deferred rebasing period, perhaps the five-year point, that we would bring forward a study around harmonization that would include -- would include a review of existing cost allocation methodologies and other cost -- and then how those cost allocation methodologies would change and bring that forward for stakeholder consultation.

I think that then over the deferred rebasing term at least the Board and ratepayers will see where we're headed and we'll have an opportunity to have input into that.

MR. KACICNIK:  If I may add, I think it is the very nature of incentive regulation to have rates decoupled from costs, right?  Unless you decouple them from cost, then formula rate-setting would not work, and just and reasonable rates are derived through that formula.

To add further to Mr. Kitchen's point is that rate harmonization in this case will be a large undertaking, and as he noted, we feel it would be a good idea to start working on that, maybe at midpoint of the deferred rebasing, perhaps looking at or evaluating the two cost allocation methodologies approved by the Board for Union and EGD and then see how we could harmonize rates on rebasing.

We would like to involve stakeholders in that process so they don't see our proposal on rebasing, but they see all the assessment and the challenges we are working through, and once we bring forward the proposal on rebasing everybody will already know what's possible to do and what's not possible.

MR. GARNER:   Again, I'm not going to argue the point about what rate regime means in this case, but to -- Mr. Kitchen, to your point, and to be clear, as you can see, is that one might look at the map that's here and ask themselves the question of why Enbridge's, let's say Ottawa region zone and your Kingston zone, or around Kingston zone, wouldn't be matched up together vis-a-vis the southern zones, and of course the northern zones, so there is a clear, by even your own map, as one might say, as kind of an obvious look to how, as you call rate harmonization would occur, and that was one of the reasons I was going to explore it.

Now -- and thank you for what you were saying, but if you -- if I can, I will just return to the map, and I'd like to keep in my mind when we're discussing the issue of cost allocation and rate design separate, because sometimes I hear this terminology, rate harmonization, but rate harmonization can mean you are harmonizing the rate structures or you're harmonizing the cost allocation and come up -- generally people mean it to mean both, but it doesn't necessarily have to be both, and that's what I'm trying to keep very cognizant in my own head, because those things can be different, and I'll explain now why I'm wondering about those differences, and we've also had this bit of a conversation.

If I look at the purple areas, these are areas on the map where the two current utilities adjoin in service territory; is that correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:   So the question, therefore, I asked in those areas is:  How, going forward, are those customers under whose rate structure and where?  So as you expand and contract in those areas and given on the face of it right now there is a difference, and I'm not sure if it is a negative or positive with either utility, but a difference, let's call it, between the -- being served by one rate structure or one utility's zone versus the other, how do those get arbitrated if customers have views about that, or will they even have an opportunity to have views about that?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, first of all, let me tell you what the -- what our intent is for those types of areas.  It is not uncommon to have shared franchises, but what are -- what is -- what governs who serves is a certificate of public convenience, and we will continue to add customers under those certificates.  So if it's within the existing EGD certificate, it would be an EGD customer.

And in terms of the question about arbitrating those differences, I think that the difference that exists today, they exist today between Union's customers in the south and the north.  I'm not sure there is anything for us to arbitrate.

The proposal would be to maintain the rate structures and the rates until we bring forward some sort of harmonization proposal.

MR. GARNER:   Well, let me make -- ask a couple of things about that.  Well, first of all, how -- which brings an interesting issue, is how you transfer and change all your certificates to be -- they won't be with Enbridge and they won't be with Union.  They will be with Amalco, so clearly you will have to go through some process and I'm sure people in your legal team have been thinking about how all that works.  I don't, and I don't know how, but Amalco certainly becomes the company and it inherits all of those things.  So there is no such thing as a Union and Enbridge subsequent to the Board's approval; there is simply an Amalco.

MR. KITCHEN:  There is simply an Amalco, but we will know the historic -- we will know where the historic certificates were.

MR. GARNER:   Right.  And -- okay.  And let's just go with that for a minute, but I understood, first of all, the ones in purple, for instance, are where you jointly have certificates, right, because that's what happens --


MR. KITCHEN:  We don't have overlapping certificates.

MR. GARNER:   Well, what does the purple represent then, sorry?

MR. KITCHEN:  An overlapping franchise.

MR. GARNER:  Oh, a franchise.

MR. KITCHEN:  You can have an overlapping franchise, but certificates should not overlap.

MR. GARNER:   So I guess this question still stands, is, is that it seems to me what you are suggesting is there exists to the customer, when the truck of Amalco runs around the neighbourhood, some difference that exists between a Union and an Enbridge, but to the customer nothing exists like that at all.  All they see is a service company with the same name on it, and as you expand and change in these areas, people who get different rates than them depending on some sort of historical something they have no understanding to, so when they phone you up and say, How come my rates are different than somebody else's, you have to have an explanation to them, and as I'm suggesting to you is if they find that explanation not satisfying, how does one arbitrate exactly what's happening to those customers?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I think that obviously we are going to have to address customer issues as they come up.  I don't expect that those issues will be significant, but if they are escalated then we will have to deal with them.  To be honest, at this point we haven't determined how we might deal with a customer in the situation you've just raised, but I can tell you that we will, as always, keep the customers' interests in mind and do our best to explain to the customer what is happening.

MR. GARNER:   Thank you, and just in anticipation of where we would be going, would you object if the Board put in a condition that required you to do reporting on customer issues like that, for instance, and also potentially give the customer information on how to resolve that thing?  Would that kind of condition cause you grief, so to speak?

MR. KITCHEN:  First of all, if the Board was to put a condition, obviously we'd follow it.  I think that -- and if the Board found that to be helpful, then that is fine.

I would like, though, to just check if that's not something already covered off in the scorecard --


MR. GARNER:  Right.

MR. KITCHEN:  -- around customer complaints, because I know that the customer complaints are often elevated to the Board, and we do keep track of all that information, so...

MR. GARNER:   Right.  I understand.  I am just trying to understand the company's sort of view of whether that's terribly objectionable.  I think you're being very helpful, and thanks.

I want to move on to a very -- thank you for all that.  I think I'll move on to a different topic altogether, and I think this is at tab 3.  And in tab 3 you will find -- it is a little bit going back in time, but I think, Mr. Kitchen, you are here, and I think this is at such a high level that -- I don't want to say it this way -- that you can answer it.  I just mean it's a financial issue that -- we don't have everybody from the panel 1 here, and that may have been helpful.  But this is very high-level, and I think you can be very helpful on this.

This is the issue of having a Z factor for interest rates, and it only came to our mind recently when looking at this about how this actually worked.

And the first thing is in this condition where -- or this proposal on interest rates, it's treated as a Z factor rather than a Y factor.

Can you just give me any insights as to why you chose that.  Like why, if there is an inordinate rise in interest rates or interest rates change, why you do a Z factor versus a Y factor?  What is the thinking behind that?

MR. KITCHEN:  Y factors are generally pass-through items that are a result of other proceedings or previous decisions, such as QRAMs or DSM decisions, or such, so this wouldn't, from my perspective, qualify as a Y factor.

So treatment as a Z factor is more appropriate.  Again, it is something that we look at.  If it was a material impact on our financial results in terms of our ability to earn our allowed ROE, we may bring forward something for Z factor treatment.

But we also recognize that under a price cap, interest rates are something that we need to manage and we are going to work to manage those, and it would only be in the extraordinary case that we couldn’t.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, and that is kind of -- that was my understanding, too, so that's very helpful.

But here's where I was wondering, and we should have asked earlier, is when you talk about interest rates -- and I guess we're talking about debt rates on interest rate -- of course two things can happen, right?

One thing that can happen is generally the universe of interest rates go up.  Another thing that can happen, however, is that the debt rate -- the interest on debt of the company that owns Amalco can go up simply because it's put itself into, for instance, a higher risk, right?

Was it your idea that that would cover both of those types of circumstances?

MR. KITCHEN:  I think the intent of what we're talking about here is to really address the refinancing of debt, of Union and Enbridge current debt under Amalco. And again, it is only in the extraordinary case that it was something that we couldn't -- couldn't manage that we'd bring forward anything.

MR. GARNER:  What I'm hearing from that answer is that you are not drawing a distinction between, as I call it, the general movement of interest rates that affect your debt and the issue of how your debt simply may or may not increase or go down, depending on the risk factors of the company.

I mean, that's fine, if you are not drawing any distinction.  You are saying it’s just all of those impacts.

MR. KITCHEN:  We’re just looking at interest expense in general.

MR. GARNER:  Right, thank you.

Now I'd like to go on to tab 4 -- and I suspect, Mr. Kacicnik, you are going to answer some of these, and I hope you'll be gentle with my understanding of all of this and going through this.

But this is the discussion about the AUTVA account, and my first question maybe to both of you is -- both the Union representatives and the current Enbridge representatives -- you both have similar accounts.  But they are not calculated, as I understand it, exactly the same, are they?

MR. KACICNIK:  We both have everything average use true-up accounts or variance accounts, that's correct.

MR. GARNER:  But are they calculated in exactly the same manner?  And actually to show you, if we go to the table that is attached to that; it’s on the third page of that tab.

If you look at that table, I believe that is from the Enbridge AUTVA, and it’s got these adjustments that are made to the base load factor for, I think, water temperature or something in the winter, and there is an adjustment being made in that.

Is that kind of adjustment made in the Union one also? Is that the same types of adjustments that are made?

MR. KACICNIK:  I don't think Union Gas has the same adjustments in their profiles.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And what's the purpose of the adjustments in the Union -- pardon me, the Enbridge ones?  Why do you make that type of adjustment?

MR. KACICNIK:  Again, maybe just a little bit of a stepping back would help.  So as part of the annual rate-setting, the utilities would determine annual volumes.  And let's assume annual volume for a residential customer is 100 units.

Then once you are in the actual year, your actual volume will vary versus your forecast volume, because forecast is never accurate.  So let's assume that the actual volume is 90 units versus the forecast volume of 100 units.

When we do weather normalization, or when we try to figure out what was the reason behind actual volume being different than forecast volumes, there is two possible reasons.  One is the weather, and the other one is average use.

So to determine the impact of weather, we carry out weather normalization.  So to do weather normalization as accurately as you can, you try to figure out what is your base load versus heating load; so weather-sensitive load versus base load.

So back in 1992, the Board asked Enbridge to separate base load from the heating load for weather normalization purposes.  And at the time, they approved base load with a little bit of seasonal profile that we have been using consistently since 1992.

MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Garner, I should add on for Union.  Union does do something similarly in the sense that that for our general service rate classes, we do look at base load by residential, commercial and industrial segments of those rate classes as well.

I would expect there are subtle differences in the details about how EGD goes about that as opposed to Union.  I think that is one of the reasons with regard to -- with regard to NAC reviews, we need to do so on an Amalco basis going forward, to make sure we are looking at that holistically across the new company.

MR. KACICNIK:  I would like to finish my example.

So 90 units -- so you do your weather normalization, and let's assume that the impact of weather was nine units, so then weather normalized use would be 99 units, and one unit would be due to average use.  So one unit would be recorded in this average use true-up account, and then recovered from customers.

But the approach allows you to separate the impact in weather from the impact of the change in averages.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  But is the end result of all of that, that you -- the purpose is it tends to stabilize the revenues because of that, because you are making those adjustments.  Is that a fair summation of what happens because of that?

MR. KACICNIK:  Not completely.  Actual revenues would not be impacted with this assumption at all.

However, this assumption does impact weather normalized revenues, although very little.  There would be some impact on weather normalized revenues, and then that would lead to some impact on average use as well.

Again, the impacts are very small.  But conceptually, there would be some impact on weather normalized revenues and average use true-up from this, but not actuals.

MR. GARNER:  Right, and thank you.  And I want to return to the issue about Union's now.

I don't know if any of the panel members had an opportunity to listen to -- and I've he got to say I can't remember if it's panel 4 or Board Staff’s  expert on productivity -- sorry, the IRM models that were here.

But the point that was brought up was the issue of the importance of the AUTVA models in your proposal.

And so it struck me that if that is true, irrespective of what one thinks of that, whether they should continue or not -- or if they were to continue, it seemed to me the idea that they should be harmonized in some fashion would be an important thing.

Again, is -- is the concept of if the AUTVAs continue to exist -- and that's an "if" in my mind -- if they do, should they at some point during the ten-year period be reviewed by the Board in order to harmonize them in concept and in mechanic?

MR. KACICNIK:  As the panel testified, when we were up here last time -- when was it?  So, like, when we were here last time, the panel already testified that review of average use accounts and how we go about doing weather normalization, et cetera, could be done once we harmonized.

The existence of average use true-up, however, is very important, because gas utilities have very large DSM programs to start with.  We have cap-and-trade abatement goals, as well as, there is a lot of energy conservation pushed down through the government, GreenON and so forth.

So there will be -- there are impacts on average uses now and will continue to exist, so if we remove the protection that both customers and utilities have on average use, then the utilities really wouldn't be in a position any more to go out and aggressively pursue energy conservation and be neutral to free riders or any other energy conservation initiatives out there.

Plus, like, the business approach from supporting energy conservation would change, in my view, to going out there and try to push load growth opportunities, right, because we would no longer have this protection.  To protect and grow our revenues, we would need to push load growth opportunities.

So it's very important that this mechanism continues, either through average use or whatever on the electric side, they are switching over to full fixed rates, so you no longer have any volumetric rates left, so in that case you are protected on average use issues as well as weather issues.

MR. GARNER:  Well, like, I have two questions following that up, one, just from what you just said.  Doesn't that issue about full fixed rates beg the question about why this Amalco utility should be allowed to be outside the Board's regulation on rate structure for ten years?  I mean, if, in fact, your point is that perhaps that, as it has happened in electricity is a model to be applied to gas, not one perhaps my client would agree with, but nonetheless a Board policy, then that would argue, it seems to me, that rate structuring is a major issue that needs to be dealt with within the ten-year period.

MR. KACICNIK:  The current regulatory framework for gas utilities is that we take on the weather risk, and both customers and the utility are protected on the risk of average use, so we are proposing to maintain that and carry it forward through the course of the deferred rebasing.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, my next question after --


MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Garner, you are at about your time, so --


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I will finish.  In fact, I will cut my last question and just finish with this one.  Thank you.

My last question in respect of that is the issue of demand-side management or conservation management programs and their cost, as I understand it, in the electricity industry is recovered in what's called the LRAM concept, and in that concept there is a direct discussion and correlation between program, program effectiveness, and the recovery.  But in the AUTVA concept there is no direct correlation between the program and the recovery.

So in a sense, the separation between what someone might call natural DSM and DSM programs doesn't exist in the same way it does in electricity; is that your understanding?

MR. KACICNIK:  My understanding is that until electricity side, residential customers are already on full fixed rates, right, so there is no weather or average use or DSM impacts on residential customer rates.  And commercial customers, I think there is a proposal to switch them to that same approach as well.  We don't have that.  And the average use does capture impacts of DSM programs, as well as other items that drive changes in average use, such as economy, gas, natural-gas price itself, and so forth.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, panel.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I do not have a compendium.  I have six things I want to deal with, but first I just want to ask -- I want to follow up on what you've just said, Anton.  You say there is a proposal to switch commercial interest to customers at all fixed rates?

MR. KACICNIK:  I believe there is a working group that came forward with the recommendations.  I'm not sure if that would be implemented or not, but that's my understanding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  News to me.  I'll have to tell my schools.  They will not be happy.

All right.  I have six things I want to ask you about.  Let's start with Z factor.  And you discussed this with Dr. Higgin, so I can go through it fairly quickly.

You're proposing a $1 million materiality threshold.  That applies not just to Z factors, but you are proposing that that would be your materiality threshold for ICM projects, for example, as well, right?

MR. TETREAULT:  No, that only applies to Z factors, Mr. Shepherd.  We have not proposed any type of project-specific ICM materiality threshold.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  Thank you.

And the basis of your million is that the distributors had -- the large distributors have a million, the largest having a substantially lower revenue requirement and rate base than yours; right?

MR. KITCHEN:  We based it on the -- which -- yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, my question was, does the largest distributor have a substantially lower revenue requirement and rate base than yours?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, there is one utility in Ontario that does have a rate base and revenue requirement similar to Amalco's, right?  That would be OPG nuclear.

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And their rate base actually lower than yours, but their revenue requirement at 3.1 billion is about the same range as what you're proposing, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Their materiality threshold is 10 million, isn't it?

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay, will you accept that subject to check?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is on page 133 and 142 of their most recent decision.

MR. KITCHEN:  I will accept that, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So obviously you didn't consider that?

MR. KITCHEN:  We did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would it be appropriate to consider the OPG threshold as, because of their similar size, an appropriate threshold for you?

MR. KITCHEN:  Whether it's appropriate or not, I don't know.  We haven't considered it.  What we did look at was the handbook.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'm trying to do is give you an opportunity to explain why the OPG $10 million doesn't apply to you, because if I raise it in argument, Mr. Cass will rightly say, Hey, you didn't put it to my witnesses, so I'm giving you the opportunity.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KITCHEN:  Without actually going, Mr. Shepherd, and looking at the decision and understanding better how they arrived at the $10 million it is difficult for me to say whether it's appropriate or not.

What I can say is what I've already said, is that we chose the threshold based on the handbook.  Ultimately the Board will have to consider any Z factor requests in their entirety based on all of the factors.

And we recognize that the threshold is a million dollars, and now I've learned that OPG's is 10, but I can't -- I can't without looking more into their decision give you an answer as to whether or not it is appropriate for Amalco without understanding better how they got to where they got to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Before I leave Z factors, you talked with Mr. Garner about interest rates being a Z factor, and I understand all that, and in fact you said at the technical conference that on the current forecasts you can manage it, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Our intent is to manage and only if it became a problem we’d bring anything forward, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you said one thing -- and maybe I be misunderstood you.  You said it's not just whether interest rates in general in the economy changed, but it would also be if your interest rates changed because of, for example, changing credit risk and stuff like that.  That might also be a Z factor, is that right?

Here's where I'm going with this.  Your parent company has well-known issues right now with its over extension because it bought Spectra; it’s in the newspaper every day. And one could contemplate that that may increase interest costs throughout the system, and I'm asking -- I'm specifically asking is it possible that we might have to pay for that because of the Z factor?

MR. CULBERT:  So, Mr. Shepherd, here's what our position is on this.  To Mr. Kitchen's point, in an extreme circumstance is what we're talking about.  If interest rates change, you know, dramatically for whatever reason, of course it would be up to the company to come forward with a proposal.

To the extent that there were circumstances which were driving a change in those costs because of some activity, to your point, that happened at the parent company for their purposes, we would need to, you know, bring a proposal to the Board explaining what our request was.

At that point in time, if parties took a position with respect to implications of something that EI did ought not to be considered as part of that ask, that would be part of that ask discussion at that point in time.

But it would be our proposal to make to say here's what the implication is, here's what's driving it, and this is our ask.

So I agree with you.  Conceptually, one would have to conclude that if there was something that could be construed as happened as a result of an EI activity, that we would have that debate at that point in time.  Of course, it wouldn't be our intent to require or request increases because of that, but that would be a debate at that point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think I understand, okay.  My second area is changes in accounting policies.  And this comes up because -- and I'm sure you've looked at this, the recent Alectra case which had a change in accounting policy and Alectra took the position that because it was happening in their deferred rebasing period, the benefit of the change in accounting policies belonged to them; it was a benefit. And the Board said no.

So in your case, do know at this point whether there will be more or less operating cost capitalized in Amalco than in the separate companies today?  Do you know yet?

MR. TETREAULT:  No, we don't know yet, Mr. Shepherd.  All the accounting policy work are work to understand what the policies are and look towards harmonization, that work continues to be a work in progress.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That harmonization, that’s not rate harmonization.  This is harmonization of accounting policies.

MR. TETREAULT:  Correct, the review of accounting policies at EGD and Union Gas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, do you know at this point whether your depreciation rates will be higher or lower in Amalco than in the separate companies?

MR. TETREAULT:  No, that's another accounting policy issue that we need to wrestle with.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then what is your proposal to capture any rate base impacts of changes in accounting policies in Amalco?  Whether it's capitalization or changes in depreciation rates, what is your proposal to deal with that before this next ten years?

MR. TETREAULT:  I'm not sure we have a proposal, Mr. Shepherd, to deal with the next ten years.  What we've said in evidence here is that we will report to this Board any material changes associated with accounting policies as part of our annual reporting package and reporting requirements that happen typically in the spring.

Beyond that, how those might get addressed, what relief we might seek, if any, we have not -- we've not finalized that.

What we've said is we will report on those changes going forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're not taking the position as Alectra did that if there is -- if your rate base is higher because of changes in accounting policies, that you get to keep that?

MR. CULBERT:  At this point in time, Mr. Shepherd, what we've suggested is we need to analyze all of the changes in their entirety to understand what the impact is in their entirety.  So we're not taking a position of a recoverable amount, or a payback amount for that matter.

We need to understand the entirety of the accounting changes before we can take any position on it.

It could be, to your point, that capitalization and change in depreciation, it could be that they negate one another -- perhaps; we don't know at this point in time.

So until we know, we're not proposing any deferral or variance account treatment at this point in time, until we know the entirety of the change.  And we will bring forward that analysis to the Board as we go through it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you merged 15 months ago. I don't understand why this hasn't been done yet.

MR. TETREAULT:  Well, it has been done, Mr. Shepherd.  Work is underway.  It is a significant exercise to review and look for harmonization opportunities amongst all the accounting policies.  I think there’s several dozen policies that need to be considered, so that's being done comprehensively.

But it is something that is underway, but takes, as you can imagine, some time to thoroughly review and complete -- complete that analysis.

MR. CULBERT:  If I can jump in, sorry?  You are saying we merged 15 months ago.  That was at the parent level.

So for the depreciation expense, we both have different depreciation methodologies, as we know at this point in time.  So we can't possibly know what the implication of that is in respect of Amalco.

So while we, you know, have a view as to the capitalization policy that would be applicable to each of the two entities or Amalco as we move forward, we know don't know the entirety of all the accounting policy changes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I guess the question I’m asking is you started looking at amalgamating these two companies last July -- or maybe earlier, but at least last July that we know of.  And that seems like an awful long time to figure out how to harmonize several dozen accounting policies.

MR. CULBERT:  Well, I don't know why entities would do the work to come to a -- I'll use depreciation, a combined depreciation study if we don't know that the Board is necessarily going to approve of an Amalco.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, because you might want to give the information to the Board so they know what they're approving.  Isn't that what you should be doing?

MR. CULBERT:  And we'll give that information to the Board after we move through the deferral period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  After they’ve approved it sight-unseen with what your accounting is going to be.

MR. CULBERT:  If the Board has done in the Alectra case, if they choose to have a variance account to deal with these types of changes, i.e. that they are not caused by or are necessarily pertinent to the amalgamation, that's up to the Board.

But I don't think they need to know that in advance.  They have those vehicles, as they did in the Alectra case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So my third area is the average use. You've talked about that with Mr. Richler, with Dr. Higgin, and now with Mr. Garner, so you've covered most of these things.

In Enbridge, it’s rates 1 and 6, right?

MR. KACICNIK:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in Union, it is M1, M2, 01 and 10?

MR. KACICNIK:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the -- so that's just the smaller general services customers.

Except for weather, it captures all the variations in Use.  So you talked about DSM and about cap-and-trade.  But also, for example, Ontario has a new building code.  It captures that, too, right?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, it does.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, price impacts.  If the price goes up and down, whether it's transportation or storage or that the commodity itself and affects how much people want to buy, it captures that, too, right?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, to the extent that natural gas prices would affect customers’ consumption, it would capture that as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, it captures general economic conditions, such as -- such as, you know, if we go to an economic slump and rate 6 customers are using less gas because they are not selling as many products, that's captured, too, right?

MR. KACICNIK:  It's captured both ways.  If economy is flourishing and that kind of impacts customers’ use upwards, that would be captured as well as a refund through the average use.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, Enbridge had a year where rate 6 actually went up for exactly that reason, right?  A couple of years ago?

MR. KACICNIK:  I'm not sure if you are referring to average use variance account disposition from 2016 or ...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KACICNIK:  In 2016, yes, we had -- we had large debit balances in that account.

I think those were the largest that we have ever seen, and it could be driven by a lot of talk about cap-and-trade regulation being imposed and so forth.

We don't know exactly why customers put the brakes on consumption in that year.  We don't know exactly, but it is true that we had large balances in the accounts in 2016.

MR. CULBERT:  But to your point -- sorry, Mr. Shepherd for jumping in.

To your point, yes, the modeling has opportunity at all of those things.  What we don't have in our model at this point in time is any experience to any great degree with respect to cap-and-trade and the GreenON activities that Mr. Kacicnik -- we don't have experience in those models, which, depending on what happens with the cap-and-trade in the election coming forward, who knows in that regard, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  We'll talk about that.

MR. CULBERT:  -- you know, to the extent that cap-and-trade costs continue to increase, our belief is they will have a material impact, could have a material impact, on our average uses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and similarly, the -- as electricity prices go up you have the situation where there is more electricity conservation and particularly on building envelope stuff, that also indirectly affects you, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Could do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So on this area the one thing you haven't been asked about is you have all these standalone and Amalco revenue forecasts.  Do they include the amounts you expect to collect from the two average-use accounts?  I would have thought yes, because they don't assume declining use, but I'm not -- I don't know.  That's why I'm asking.

MR. CULBERT:  Could you repeat the question, Jay, sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure, you have revenue forecasts, right, which I don't think assume declining use per customer, unless I'm wrong, and so I assume that then built into those revenues requirements is whatever you would be collecting from your average use accounts, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Just give us a moment.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KACICNIK:  As far as we understand it is that our revenue projections do include a 1 percent decline in average use, which is kind of historic trend that we have experienced for our general service customers.  What it does not include is any deviations from this trend due to cap-and-trade or increased abatement activities, so it is
-- so there is average use trend is included, but at historic levels.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- that's interesting.  That's built into the declining growth assumptions; is that right?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, I think you can put it that way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  Well, that's interesting, because then doesn't that mean that your estimated increases of 2.4 percent per year, which we talked about at the technical conferences, that's actually not your rate increases, right, because you have to then add the 1 percent increase for the decline in use, right?  That will be additional money that you get from the customers; is that right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KACICNIK:  Mr. Shepherd, are you referring to any specific interrogatory or undertaking response here?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We talked about this at the technical conference.  We did a spreadsheet which we went back and forth on and agreed on, on the -- both the standalone and the Amalco annual increases, and the average was 2.4 percent per year.  It is a figure that we must have said ten times in the technical conference.

But whatever it is, it doesn't matter.  It is another 1 percent, right?

MR. KACICNIK:  I think we can just go to Undertaking J1.4, because that undertaking shows what's being anticipated in terms of customers' bill and rate impacts through the deferred rebasing period.

MR. KACICNIK:  So as you know, our proposal is to adjust rates for the price cap index, DSM, and the change in average use, so the impacts that you see here in this table reflect an assumption that average use will decline by 1 percent for general service customer year over year, so these impacts are inclusive of declining average use.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, the M1 residential is increasing by 2.55 percent per year over the next ten years?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I had some questions on 1.4, so I'm going to just segue to those and then circle back.

So while you've got this up, that line, that 447.17; do you see that on total delivery charges, that goes up to 575.27 over ten years; do you see that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What components -- do we have the full calculations of that anywhere?

MS. MIKHAILA:  No, we don't have the full calculations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide them?

MR. KACICNIK:  Well, I think I can explain what's in there.  What's in there is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a question, but I'd like to have the full calculations if you can provide them.

MR. KACICNIK:  It is simply the sum of monthly customer charges, delivery charges, and cap-and-trade charges.  That's what's recovered through the company's delivery charges.  So that's from Board-approved April 1st, 2018 QRAM.  It is just a simple summation of those three components.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the whole calculation then is what we would see on J2.2, attachment 1?; is that right?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yeah, if you look at J2.2, yes, it would be.  I'm speaking about Enbridge Gas Distribution now, rate 1.  It would be the monthly customer charges of $20 per month, and then the volumetric delivery charges.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me just stop you.  I can see the page.

MR. KACICNIK:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that the calculation that you used for J1.4, attachment 1?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, it would be.  They are the same rates.  It is from April 2018 QRAM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right, so then can I have the 2028 calculations the same way?  If you have all these calculations it would be useful then if we could just -- from J1.4, attachment 1, just have the same level of detail for all those numbers; can you do that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a spreadsheet you already have, right?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yeah, we can undertake to provide that.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  (A) TO PROVIDE THE 2028 CALCULATIONS FOR J1.4, ATTACHMENT 1; (B) SIMILAR TO J1.4, ATTACHMENT 1, TO PROVIDE THE CALCULATIONS FOR THE OTHER RATE CLASSES, FOR STANDARD VOLUMES.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And by the way, the Union ones are at 2,200 M cubed and the Enbridge ones are at 2,400 M cubed; is that right?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yeah, we provided two bill examples.  One was at 2,200.  So it's -- so the volume use is the same as what Union Gas used, and then we also provided --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I see.

MR. KACICNIK:  -- bill at 2,400, because that provides continuity with our historical, typical bill example.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.  And do you have the same calculations for Rate 6?

MR. KACICNIK:  No, we don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I see that, for example, in 2.2, attachment 1, you have Rate 10 and Rate 6, and M2 for that matter, don't you?

MR. KACICNIK:  Can you repeat the question?  I --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  In J2.2, attachment 1, you have the Rate 6, M2, and Rate 10, right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you could provide those calculations as well, right?  Similar to J1.4, attachment 1, you could provide them for your standard volumes that you use, for example, for small commercial?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, we could do that.

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, is that part of the same undertaking, or -- can you include that in the same undertaking?  Thank you so much.

[Witness nods head]

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm going to come back to that.  That was actually my lead-in to rate harmonization, but I want to talk about cost allocation for a second.  And you've talked about this --


MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Shepherd, you are at your time, so this will be the last.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am?  I thought I had 30 minutes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  My plan showed 20.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I prepared 30.  Do we have time for me to finish my last two areas?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, we'll do -- we'll do the 30.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll talk real fast.

MS. ANDERSON:  I don't think that helps the court reporter.

MR. SHEPHERD:  [Laughing]  So you've talked a lot about cost allocation, so most of it I don't have to cover.

Ms. Mikhaila, you said the other day that you can't really properly do cost allocation, except in the context of a cost-of-service application because that's when you have all your costs set out in detail, right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, you lost me on the last part.  That's when you have your cost all?

MR. SHEPHERD:  All broken down in detail.  So that's when you can do a cost allocation study effectively, right, when you have a full set of costs.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if you had to do a cost allocation before your next rebasing, let's just say the Board said, look, we think you should do this.  You argued against the IGUA proposal in 2018, where you said no, no, you can't do partial cost allocation.  So fine, we want you to do full cost allocation.

Can you actually do that?  Can you do -- for 2020, let's say, could you do a full cost allocation if the Board ordered it?

MS. MIKHAILA:  No, I don't think we could do a full cost allocation study, particularly as an amalgamated entity.

We will have one set of, at that time, forecasted costs, and to determine how to incorporate those costs into a cost allocation study of one entity couldn't be done at that time.

It would be a significant exercise to bring together a cost allocation study of the amalgamated entity.

MR. KACICNIK:  And to circle back to the previous discussion we had, is that in a price cap regime or any other incentive regulation regime, rates are informed or set based on the formula.  Rates are decoupled from costs.

The reason you do cost allocation in cost-of-service is to inform rate-making.  You have these costs, like if you just jump to rate design, you wouldn't know how much you need to recover from each rate class based on cost causality.  So there is this essential step, which is cost allocation, that provides guidance to rate design.

Once you are incentive regulation, it's -- the information is not meaningful any more.

MS. LONG:  Sorry, this is not part of your ten minutes, Mr. Shepherd.  But I'm going to ask the question.  I’m not sure I heard the answer.

So if the Board ordered a cost allocation study to be done in the ten-year period, are you saying you could not do it?

MR. KACICNIK:  Not in any meaningful way.  Unless we would be setting rates based on cost allocation, it wouldn't be meaningful.  We are setting rates based on price cap formula.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Surely there is a difference, Mr. Kacicnik, between whether you can do the study and whether you agree with the Board wanting it?

MR. GARNER:  Madam Chair, I hate to interrupt, but perhaps this would be helpful to the panel.  This is some information that I know.

I do understand that you might want to look at -- the FEI in British Columbia, just recently I believe, has done exactly that, which is to do a cost allocation rate design outside of its cost-of-service year.

And I wonder if you might review that as an undertaking, and indicate if that were not possible.

And the reason I just interrupted is because I am familiar with exactly that happening, and so it's a bit of a -- I just don't understand it.

MR. KACICNIK:  Like we are not familiar with this particular case that was referenced.  But again, as we noted earlier, we are suggesting that we would start reviewing all of that, maybe at mid point of our deferred rebasing period, start at looking at both cost allocation methodologies with all of our stakeholders, so they can see how we are going about assessing cost allocation and then eventual harmonization.

It is a large undertaking that we'll have to do, and we don't want to just bring forward a proposal on rebasing.  I think given the size of the undertaking, it is best to involve stakeholders, so they know what we are bringing forward at the end of the deferred rebasing period.

MS. MIKHAILA:  I think the challenge is as well, we currently have two cost allocation studies because we have two independent utilities that have independent costs at this point in time.

When amalgamated, or if amalgamated, we will have one company with one set of costs, and we don't have a cost study that can, at this point in time, that can take those costs and allocate them across.

We will -- as we start moving through amalgamation, we will have significant changes being made as were discussed with the billing system, customer care departments, that we would then have to have an allocation methodology, a combined cost study in order to do a proper allocation of costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Kitchen and Mr. Culbert, you were both -- and maybe Mr. Tetreault as well and, I don’t know, maybe all of you were at your respective utilities in 2002, 2003, 2004, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, at least Mr. Culbert and I were.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You did cost allocation every year, didn't you?

MR. KITCHEN:  When we were in a cost-of-service regime, we did cost-of-service every year, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So every year, you had to do a cost allocation study, right?  I remember functionalization, classification, all this ...

MR. CULBERT:  Absolutely.  When costs were underpinning the rates, associated rates, yes, absolutely.

This may not be all that helpful.  This challenge is not unlike going from incentive regulation back into a rebase -- first rebase year of cost-of-service.

When everybody understands drivers of deficiency, we have all seen that, and trying to figure out what a driver of deficiency is coming out of a rate model which detached revenues from cost is almost an impossibility.  Why?  Because I could dream up a multitude of scenarios about costs which underpin those rates, but they are not real.  I could have multiple budgets, et cetera.

So it's a similar situation.  It is a complicated exercise we'd need to go through and there would be lots of debate about it, and the costs that we would be utilizing wouldn't match what is necessarily in the revenue structures that are ongoing.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, I just want to follow up on this because it seems to me you’re putting -- aren't you putting the cart before the horse?

You are saying we can't do cost allocation because we are not using the costs to underpin the rates.  But don't the rates -- when you are doing cost-of-service, don't the rates follow the costs, not the costs follow the rates?  You have to know the costs before you set the rates.

So can't you do the first half of that exercise without necessarily doing the second half, which is determining how they figure out what the costs are and then worry about -- then we'll talk about whether or not they actually underpin the rates?

I mean, we're just -- I think that's the kind of decoupling we're talking about perhaps, that to say we can't do it because we're not using it to underpin rates is kind of the second half the equation.

MR. KITCHEN:  Member Spoel, if your question is could you physically run a cost allocation study through the deferred rebasing term?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.

MR. KITCHEN:  The answer is yes, you could.  Now that would come with a number of assumptions, just because we don't have -- as Ms. Mikhaila said, we don't have a combined cost allocation study at this time.  We have two separate entities.

MS. SPOEL:  I understand all those caveats.  But the fact that you might not use it to underpin the rates doesn't you mean you can't do it.

MR. KITCHEN:  Physically, you can do it.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So my last question about this is --about cost allocation is -- Mr. Kacicnik, you said the purpose of cost allocation is to determine how the utility recovers cost in a cost cost-of-service environment.  You said that a few minutes ago.

But it is also, is it not, a way of ensuring that customers pay the costs they cause.  Isn't it the underpinning of cost causality that sets rates?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, I fully agree with that.  In a cost-of-service regime, rates are set based on cost causality and that's accomplished through the cost allocation study.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is not from the utilities’ perspective that you have to do it to allocate, figure out where you get your costs recovered from.  It’s also from the customers' perspective to make sure they are fairly allocated the right amount of costs, right?

MR. KACICNIK:  I think that the regulatory compact is set up that way that all of these exercises are viewed both from the utility and customer perspectives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to move to rate harmonization quickly.  I've done most of the set up on this.

Today -- tell me whether this is correct.  Today you know generally that for the general service classes -- and this may not be true for the larger classes, but for the general service classes, generally speaking, if you harmonize rates, if everybody has the same rates across your franchise area, excluding Union North, which I understand has different drivers, but all through the south, Union general service rates would generally go up and Enbridge general service rates would generally go down.  Is that directionally correct?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yeah, we would agree with that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, and is any part of this because Union will have to start picking up a full RCAM hit?  We saw that Enbridge is going to spend this year, what, about $60 million on RCAM, and Union only really has 13- or 14 million, but you've got a plug in there for another 26 million just to get it in the right range.  You recall that.

And am I right that what's going to happen is Union is going to have to pick up a lot more RCAM costs?

MR. TETREAULT:  I don't think we can say that, Mr. Shepherd.  At the corporate level, I mentioned this the other day, we continue to look at what the corporate cost allocation methodology will be.  In terms of what that means directionally for Amalco, I -- we have no way of knowing that at this point in time.

I will say that I -- I mean, you're asking this question in the context of rate harmonization, and I'm not sure I see the -- I'm not sure I see the linkage personally, but that's where we're at with the corporate cost allocation and RCAM.

MR. KITCHEN:  And I will just add that there is no relationship between whatever happens in terms of corporate allocations versus the harmonization proposal that we have before you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What harmonization?

MR. KITCHEN:  That we are not -- that we're going to look at it over the deferred rebasing term and bring back a big background proposal later.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, when you harmonize the rates you're going to have to allocate costs, and that will include RCAM, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, at some point in the future, but I took your question to mean is there anything about -- because you started your question with, if you took the -- just the south and put them together, and you stirred up the pot, then Union South rates would go up, and then you related that to the RCAM -

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are saying that connection doesn't exist?

MR. KITCHEN:  Not in terms of you stirring the pot right now, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, and the last part of this then is, you were asked questions about shared franchise areas, and I understand that you don't actually share franchise areas; you have sort of the franchise areas where each of you have a bit of it, but there is still separate areas, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you are proposing is that for those areas they would continue to be either Union or Enbridge, if you attach a new customer on one of your lines, Mr. Kitchen, that's a Union customer, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What about community expansions?  They require that you go into a new area.  What's your proposal for those?  Whose customers are they?

MR. KITCHEN:  I think -- I think that we'd have to look at who could serve them the most economically, but in terms of -- of -- obviously if we're adding a community that's clearly in Union South, it would be a Union South customer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, by definition, these are not in either Union South or --


MR. KITCHEN:  In terms of the rates that we would use to underpin the economics and the rates that we would charge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then for community expansion applications, the Board should assume that you will demonstrate that whoever's applying for it, whether it's the Union side or the Enbridge side, that you're cheaper than the alternative.

MR. KITCHEN:  I think what we would be doing is Amalco would be applying for the community expansion, and we will propose -- we will put forward the rates that would be charged to those customers and that underpin the economics.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And those rates would be from whoever can serve them cheaper.

MR. KITCHEN:  Whatever rate zone those customers are in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they are not in one.  The hypothetical is, is it is a community expansion; there is no rate zone right now.

MR. KITCHEN:  No, there is still a rate zone.  There is still a rate zone.  If we were expanding -- for example, let's just turn back the clock and we'll talk about Milverton, which is one that we've already got approved.  Assume we were amalgamated already.  Milverton is clearly in the southern rate zone.  We would base the economics on the southern rate zone rates, and they would be charged the southern rate zone rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And why is it a Union franchise?

MR. KITCHEN:  It is in the Union South rate zone.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it -- do you have a certificate of public convenience there?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you do now, but did you before?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I'm not sure if we did or not, to be honest, but we would get one, and we would -- because of where it's located we would use the Union Southern zone rates for the economics and the proposal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would basically be able to choose then -- Amalco would be able to choose who serves new communities.

MR. KITCHEN:  It would be based on the rate zone.  Amalco is -- Amalco would be a single company.  The community expanding will be in one of the rate zones.  Whatever rate zone it's in, that's the rate we would use to underpin the economics.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not sure I understand this concept of rate zone.  There is no such thing as a rate zone technically, is there?

MR. KITCHEN:  Oh, there is a rate zone.  There's a south rate zone, the north rate zone, and the EGD zone.  That is part of our evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have a map that shows that?

MR. KITCHEN:  Look at VECC's compendium K5.1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That shows the areas you serve now.  I'm not asking about those areas.

MR. KITCHEN:  That roughly sets out the rate zones.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if it's not in one of those rate zones, if you are expanding to a community that's not on that map in one of those zones, then what do you do?

MR. KITCHEN:  I have to look and see what facilities are being used to serve them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And my last question is on --


MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Shepherd, you are quite well over your time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is my last question.  So one of the problems you have is -- or I guess maybe you don't have it.  Maybe my schools have it -- is that for certain non-residential general service customers, schools being a big group of those, they are served in Union as large M1 customers, generally.  And in Enbridge they are served mostly in Rate 6, and that means significantly different rate impacts depending on the school.

When will this be resolved?  When will those be harmonized and on what basis?  And by the way, before you answer, the subtext of my question is:  I want to know what I tell the school boards that have schools a few blocks away both being served by Amalco that have dramatically different bills.


MR. KACICNIK:  I would say that on this particular question we are guided by the Board's policy on mergers and acquisitions, et cetera, which says that rate harmonization will be reviewed on rebasing.

So as mentioned earlier, is that we would start that process of looking at harmonization maybe at midpoint of deferred rebasing, work through it, and see if we can actually accomplish harmonization, meaning that, let's say all general service customers, commercials would be in the same rate class.

So that's when this would be resolved.  It would be on rebasing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you made a determination as to whether the basis of this will be the Enbridge model which divides residential and non-residential or the Union model which divides only by volume?

MR. KITCHEN:  We have not.

MR. KACICNIK:  No, we have not, and it is possible that neither one will be the most suitable, that we will propose a third solution that will work, but really we haven't done any assessment yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now you are getting me interested.

Thank you for your patience, Madam Chair.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt, but before you canvass your fellow Panel members, from this morning's testimony, I do have three questions I'd like to ask.  I'm not on the schedule for this panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, we have limited time today, so --


MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate that, but these are important questions.  Otherwise I wouldn't interrupt.

MS. ANDERSON:  Right.  And it does require a problem, because we will have to leave the panel here, take our break, come back, and then take another break for the other panel, so I just want to make sure they are critical.

MR. MONDROW:  From my perspective they're critical.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So we'll have to leave this panel then and -- because we have to take now.  We have got a commitment, and we'll come back with our questions.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:03 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.


MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Mondrow, how much time?

MR. MONDROW:  Five minutes or less.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate it, Madam Chair, and I assure you I would not ask light lightly.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


Witnesses, it is now, based on Mr. Kacicnik’s testimony this morning in particular, not clear to me whether you are in fact proposing to address allocation of Panhandle costs in your rate application or not.  I'm hoping the answer is you still are.

MR. KITCHEN:  We still intend to, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And would the cost of the currently applied for Kingsville expansion -- which, as I understand it, is another expansion of the Panhandle system, transmission expansion -- be included in that proposal?
MS. MIKHAILA:  The Kingsville project will be under the ICM mechanism for recovery, and different than the Panhandle reinforcement project that was under Union's pass through mechanism.

MR. MONDROW:  And that ICM proposal will include a proposal of how those costs are to be allocated?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, the 2019 rates application when we apply for ICM will include a recovery of the Kingsville proposal for recovery of the Kingsville project cost.

MR. MONDROW:  Do you expect that will be a different allocation methodology from the methodology for the most recent Panhandle expansion?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, the Kingsville assets are currently in Union’s plant accounting records as another transmission asset.

MR. MONDROW:  But in respect to the Panhandle expansion costs, I gather, given your answer a minute ago, Mr. Kitchen, that you believe that you can and should propose a different allocation than historical for those Panhandle expansion cost without a full cost allocation study?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  But obviously you would need to include the cost of the expansion?

MR. KITCHEN:  We would include the cost of the expansion, and the reason that we feel we can do the cost allocation of the Panhandle is it's isolated to one functional classification.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, that's helpful.  One more question then.

Mr. Kacicnik, you mentioned a couple of times your theory of incentive regulation being divorced from underlying costs.  But isn't it actually true that an incentive regulation mechanism makes assumptions about the inflation of input costs in general, either general inflation or specific inflation in respect of the types of costs incurred by utilities, as well as expected cost efficiencies and then sets rates, but leaves it to the utility to manage individual cost elements?

MR. KACICNIK:  I would agree with that statement.  I think that the price cap index, which is a function of inflation, captures that as you describe it.

This is not the same as cost-of-service rate-making of course, where you go through grassroots forecasts of all of the costs to provide service to customers.

MR. MONDROW:  I understand that.  But while rates may be decoupled from actual utility costs under an incentive regulation mechanism, you'd agree with me, I take it, that they are not completely decoupled from assumptions regarding costs?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, I would agree with that, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, thank you very much, Madam Chair.
Questions by the Board:

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Okay, I had a few questions.  The first one refers to -- I guess it's attachment 4 of your application that lists the deferral accounts to be continued during the diverse -- the deferred rebasing period.

I just want to clarify whether you consider approval of this list of deferral and variance accounts as integral to your rate framework.

In other words, is it something that is critical to be approved by this panel in looking at the rate framework, as opposed to a subsequent panel that would actually be looking at the rate application?

MR. KITCHEN:  I think it is actually integral to this application because those deferral accounts are directly linked to how we will deal with rate zones, et cetera.

So I do believe it's integral to the application.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  The next question -- I haven't been able to find in the evidence where you responded to why it wouldn't be appropriate to adopt a two-factor IPI including the average weekly earnings.  So I've seen responses that say this is what we have used, GDPI PIFDD is what we’ve used in the past.

But I don't think I've seen a response on why the AWE applied to that IPI would not be appropriate, given that’s what we've adopted for electricity.

So if you could point me to where you've responded, but if not -- because I would like to hear specifically about the AWE and its appropriateness.

MR. KITCHEN:  At Exhibit C.VECC.28, we were asked to explain why we wouldn't have a different rate adjustment for distribution rates as to transmission and storage rates.

So it's not exactly the question you are asking, but in the answer, we talked about the reasons that we continue to support the GDP IPI FDD, and they really go back to the original reasons that was put in place.  And we didn't see that there would be any material impact as a result of changing from the current method that Union uses to the method used by the electrics.

MS. ANDERSON:  Is there something about the AWE that was concerning, or was it simply again because of what you've used in the past?

MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure it's concerning.  It's -- what I would say is it's more about just the fact that we have something we've used in the past.  We know it's transparent; it's easy to get.  We'd have to come up with what is the appropriate labour weight for Amalco that may be contentious, et cetera.

But that was -- that's really the issue.  Mr. Culbert may add to that.

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I agree.  If you look at the response, although it was a while back, PEG sort of indicated the same.  You eliminate the need for that debate about the weighting, et cetera, of labour versus whatever.

And I do have -- I asked our economics department to do an analysis of what the GDP IPI FDD would have been for electrics versus their weighting of 70/30.  And I’ve got a document in front of me, and it shows that in fact the averages for 2012 through 2016 for the electrics under GDP IPI, as we’ve suggested, would have been 1.7 percent, which matches what they were under the weighted for that period, so they’re pretty close.

MS. ANDERSON:  That sounds like something that would be interested to have an as undertaking to file. Yes?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.2:  FOR 2012 TO 2016 PROVIDE A COMPARISON OF AN INFLATION FACTOR USING JUST GDP IPI FDD WITH AN INFLATION FACTOR USING BOTH GDP IPI FDD AND AWE (70/30 WEIGHTED)  

MS. ANDERSON:  And then the last question, it was Something actually I read in the PEG report -- and you don't need to flip that up -- but that interested me. They refer to the fact that you apply -- for Union, you apply the price cap adjustment to the revenue requirement, and not to the actual prices.  And that that's -- I understand that's how it's done now, but it's still considered a price cap adjustment.

So can you explain to me why the approach is to apply it to the revenue requirement and then kind of allocate it down, rather than applying it directly to the prices?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, this actually goes back to our initial price cap back in 2008, and what we did there is we started with revenue requirement and then we deducted from revenue requirement the pass-through items at the cost level, right, so we deducted DSM, we deducted upstream transportation, all those things that aren't escalated, and then we escalated the portion, excluding the Y factors, and then added back the Y factors and divided through by the billing units.

So in essence, what we're doing is we fixed the billing units, and we escalate the cost, excluding the pass-throughs, and then re-apply the billing unit, so you end up at essentially the same spot as escalating the prices.

MS. ANDERSON:  Where does the NEC fit into that calculation?

MR. KITCHEN:  The NAC?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. KITCHEN:  So once we have -- we have our billing units to start with, we make an adjustment for NAC to those billing units as well, and so again, the NAC gets passed through in terms of the price through that billing determinant adjustment.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

Mr. Cass, do you have any re-examination?

MR. CASS:  I do not, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Well, then it looks like we have Energy Probe up next.  Just while we're shuffling, I guess we'll take five.
--- Recess taken at 11:34 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:45 a.m.


MS. ANDERSON:  We're back on the air with panel 6 and Mr. Rubin, is it?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  You are going introduce the witnesses.

MR. RUBIN:  Madam Chair and panel members, my name is Norm Rubin, and I am representing Energy Probe.

If I could have the witnesses affirmed, please.
ENERGY PROBE RESEARCH FOUNDATION - PANEL 1

Brady Yauch,

Tom Ladanyi, Affirmed

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rubin:


MR. RUBIN:  Madam Chair, I'd like to qualify the witnesses first.

Mr. Ladanyi, your educational background includes a bachelor degree in engineering from McGill University, and a master of applied science from the University of Toronto.

You are a professional engineer in the province of Ontario.  You also received accreditation as a certified management accountant and a chartered professional accountant.

You've held management positions in engineering and operations at TransCanada Pipelines in the 1970s and '80s, management positions with Consumers Gas and Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. for 20 years in finance, regulatory affairs, operations and engineering, and with Ontario Power Generation for five years ending in 2015, in regulatory affairs and corporate strategy, and you are currently a private consultant.  Have I got all that correct?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, you do.

MR. RUBIN:  You have given testimony in proceeding before the National Energy Board, the New York State Public Service Commission, and in numerous proceedings before the Ontario Energy Board.

The issues have included regulatory accounting, capital budget and operations budgets, incentive regulation, construction planning, pipeline design and costs.  For a period of nine years, you taught a part of the Canadian Gas Association regulatory course that dealt with revenue requirement and incentive regulation.

In 2001, you were invited by the OEB to conduct a training session for Staff on regulation of gas utilities.

Among your other achievements, I note that you were on the committee that developed the OEB's uniform system of accounts for gas utilities, on the committee that developed the EBO-188 guidelines on natural gas system expansion, and on the committee that developed the model franchise agreement for gas distributors.

You were a member of the Enbridge team that developed its incentive regulation model for the 2008 to 2012 period, a model that was approved by the OEB in its EB-2007-0615 decision, and you were a witness in that proceeding.  Your CV is filed as Appendix C of your report.

In your last testimony before the OEB on May 10th, 2016, in EB-2016-0004 generic proceeding on natural gas expansion in communities that are not served, you were qualified as an expert in utility regulation and expansion of utility services.

Have I stated all of this correctly?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, you have, Mr. Rubin.

MR. RUBIN:  Madam Chair, I ask that Mr. Ladanyi be accepted as an expert in utility regulation.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Rubin, I guess our question is the -- the evidence before us is specifically about amalgamations.  And so normally, we would think the qualification would be about being an expert in amalgamations.

Obviously, there is extensive experience here, but we generally want to look at the expertise in the particular area that the evidence is being brought forward on.  Can we hear, perhaps, the expertise in that specific area that the evidence is based on, which is amalgamations -- mergers and acquisitions is what I think the report said, but same thing.

MR. LADANYI:  May I speak?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  It is quite right that the evidence is related to mergers and acquisitions, but it is specifically related to regulatory decisions on mergers and acquisitions.  So the salient point is regulatory experience and understanding what those decisions were about, not on specific financing transactions, or share issues that relate to mergers and acquisitions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Does anyone else have any -- I guess the question is are there objections?

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, maybe -- Mr. Cass, you are free to go first, if you’d like.

Maybe I can just express some of Board Staff's concerns, Madam Chair, and I plan to be quick about this because I have no objection to them providing their testimony and filing their report.  In fact, we found it to be quite helpful.

But the issue that has been brought before us is whether they should be qualified as experts in the legal sense.

So we understand that Mr. Yauch and especially Mr. Ladanyi have extensive experience and knowledge about the energy and regulatory sector generally, so our concerns shouldn't be taken as any sort of attack against their qualification in that regard or about their knowledge in the sector.

But in order to be qualified as an expert, ordinarily a witness must have specialized knowledge and training that is not held by the Board Panel, the people who are deciding the issue.

You will recall Dr. Makholm and Dr. Lowry, for example, have extensive specialized knowledge and training on TFP, for example.  They've been doing that for their entire professional lives and more importantly, something that the panel couldn't reasonably be expected to assess on their own without the assistance of that expert.

So there was a very general qualification given and again, I don't dispute how much experience Mr. Ladanyi has in the sector.  But largely, that's the same type of expertise you have.  Indeed, you just asked him what his specialized expertise was and, in addition to mergers and acquisitions, he said regulatory decisions.  And with great respect, that surely is your area of expertise as well.  So  I'm not sure what additional expertise Mr. Ladanyi has in that area that you don't already have.

Again, you are not a court of law, so you don't have to follow the strict rules for experts that they have to do.  You have all sorts of leeway.  I do understand that Mr. Ladanyi has been qualified in the past.

So again, we have no objection to him giving testimony here.  We do have a bit of concern about expert creep, if you want to call it that, in that we want to ensure that the expert label is reserved for parties who have genuine specialized expertise that you do not already have.

Those are my submissions, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  The Panel is prepared to proceed with hearing the evidence and the cross-examination that's planned, and obviously what typically happens is it goes to weight in our decision.  So we're quite prepared to proceed without making a decision on that -- on qualification.

But I guess  -- we haven't introduced Mr. Yauch yet as well.  But are there any issues with just proceeding and we'll render that parties could include that in their submissions if they had.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair, I have a submission on that.  My understanding of the rules of the Board is that the Board hears two types of evidence.  It hears factual evidence within the knowledge of the person giving it, and that's -- so we have utility witnesses come in and they are not qualified as experts.  They're telling what they and their companies are doing and what they are proposing; that's factual evidence.

And we have expert evidence that is evidence that's not within your personal knowledge; it is a matter of judgment and analysis.  And to do that, you have to qualify as an expert.  Otherwise, anybody could come in and give evidence on anything and it would always just go to weight, which would waste the Board's time and would blur the distinction between the two.

So I'm not sure I understand how the Board can hear this evidence unless the witnesses are qualified as experts.

Now, having said that, I believe they should be qualified as experts.  There is no question that they do have expertise and as far as I know, the Board has never made it a rule that an expert can't have an expertise that's overlapping with the Board's.

I also don't think that -- that it is fair to say that to the witness, well, if you didn't have expertized expertise in MAADs, mergers and acquisitions, that you can't appear before us in a MAADs case, because Dr. Makholm did, and he didn't have specialized expertise in MAADs, but he was nonetheless here, and nobody objected because he did have useful things to tell the Board.

I think it's fair, Madam Chair, for the Board to say, We accept your expertise and we accept qualifying you as experts, but the weight we give your evidence will be driven, in part, by the extent to which you can tell us something that wasn't already within our area of expertise, and if you can provide us with some things that are useful to us in that way, then we will give it weight, but if not, we won't.

I think that's -- our submission is that's the right way to resolve this, and that's our proposal.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  I have a different perspective from Mr. Shepherd.  From my practical perspective, Mr. Ladanyi and Mr. Yauch have undertaken a course of study on merger precedence, both proceeding with some now established through Mr. Rubin knowledge of regulatory issues.

That is not a course of study that -- I don't believe that course of study has been undertaken either by the Panel or by Board Staff nor by anybody else in the room.  It is obviously a course of study relevant to your deliberations, and from my perspective I'd like to ask them about some of those findings as they may relate to the application before you.

So that is neither a factual -- it is not a factual testimony nor expert testimony in the sense that Mr. Shepherd referred to it, but it is nonetheless relevant testimony from people who have undertaken some work.  I think it is useful to have that information now rather than leaving it to argument.

MS. ANDERSON:  And we certainly weren't planning on not having the cross-examination.  That was always our intent to do that.  The question really before us is in order to do that do we need to make a decision right now on whether they are qualified as experts to do that.

MR. MONDROW:  Understood, and I guess maybe I should have been clearer.  My proposition is that you have the discretion to hear the material regardless of the technical legal analysis of what constitutes an expert or not an expert, which I think is essentially akin to what you are considering, which is, let's hear the evidence and we'll decide how useful it will be to us.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Cass, did you have anything to add to this?

MR. CASS:  Well, Madam Chair, I have a somewhat different perspective, but it does build on what other people have said to you.  I do share the concern expressed by Mr. Millar, and I think it ties into what you were saying as well, Madam Chair.  I believe that an expert needs to be qualified as an expert in a particular area that is of importance to the case.

I don't understand what the particular area is that these two gentlemen are being qualified in that relates to the case.  I don't think it's fair just to ask that they be qualified as experts.  They have to be experts in something, and it needs to be something that relates to this case.

Having said that, in the interest of being efficient with hearing time, there were discussions about this, and I did indicate to Energy Probe -- I didn't realize we would have this much debate here today -- I did indicate to Energy Probe, to be efficient with hearing time I would not make an objection to the expertise.  Of course, it does go to weight, as others have been saying.

I did also, when I indicated that to Energy Probe, I expressed this concern that someone who has been accepted as an expert in a particular area, because I understand that at least one of these witnesses testified in a case that I believe is completely different, doesn't just make them generally an expert in any area at the Board.

So in short, I had indicated to Energy Probe that to be efficient with hearing time I would not make an objection to the expertise on the caveat that their acceptance as an expert in any case does not somehow make them ongoing experts in any future Board proceeding.

So I realize that's not particularly helpful to you in relation to submissions you're hearing, but those were the discussions that had occurred in the interests of trying to be efficient with hearing time.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Rubin, do you have anything to add?

MR. RUBIN:  I hasten to add, Madam Chair, that some of this discussion is legal, technical, and I have to immediately explain that I've never been through a law school.  I'm here, making believe that I'm a lawyer, but this is obviously -- part of this discussion is well over my depth in that regard.  Obviously the evidence that we are here to present is the report and the interrogatory answers, which are in a specific area which Energy Probe believes and hopes will be of value to this panel.  To the extent that it is of value, it is a matter that is, I believe, subject to expertise, and we have the two experts in the room who have done more in this field, I believe, than anybody else in the room.  And their findings and what they learned from conducting their findings and how they conducted their findings is precisely what Energy Probe would like to present to you.  In my view, that's what experts do, but as I say, that is not a lawyer's opinion.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Rubin, are you proposing to qualify Mr. Yauch in the same area of utility regulation?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  We're going to take five to discuss.  Thanks.
--- Recess taken at 12:01 p.m.
--- On resuming at 12:09 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  We are not prepared to qualify the witnesses as experts in the area of utility regulation, as proposed by Mr. Rubin.  However, we agree with Mr. Mondrow that we have a discretion to hear the evidence and to give it the weight that we deem appropriate.

We will be assisted by hearing the research findings by Energy Probe.  Parties can make submissions on the weight of that evidence in their final arguments.  And with that, we would like to proceed.

Mr. Rubin, we haven't finished with Mr. Yauch, but I guess it's a bit moot at this point.

MR. RUBIN:  Madam Chair, thank you for that.  I am actually now at your disposal.

Is Form A irrelevant at this point for both of these non-expert witnesses?

MS. ANDERSON:  I'm sorry, can you please help me with Form A?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes, Form A, the form that acknowledges the duty of expert witness to provide opinion evidence in accordance with the standards of fairness and within their expertise.  Irrelevant?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Irrelevant.  And the qualifications of Mr. Yauch to have done half of this report; relevant?

MS. ANDERSON:  We certainly recognize that they have extensive CVs and that we want to hear the report.

MR. RUBIN:  And you do not want to hear the details of Mr. Yauch's report which are provided in the documentation, and in the report as well?

MS. ANDERSON:  Do you mean in his CV?

MR. RUBIN:  I was planning to rattle through Mr. Yauch's professional qualifications and ask him to agree that it's all true, as I did with Mr. Ladanyi.  Shall I skip that?

MS. ANDERSON:  That's fine, just to lay it out, you know, acknowledging that we have read it.

MR. RUBIN:  So I will now skip it?

MS. ANDERSON:  Which would you prefer to do?

MR. RUBIN:  I am at your disposal.

MR. GARNER:  Just do it.

MR. RUBIN:  One of my lawyer friends is saying skip it, and the other is saying just do it.  Oh, my Lord.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Rubin, we've read the CV and I am assuming that Mr. Yauch is affirmed, and that he will give evidence that is truthful today.

So perhaps you could just put to him if there’s been any changes to the CV that’s been filed, and that will help us proceed.

The panel has reviewed it, and quite extensively.  We've looked through your expertise, and perhaps you could Just affirm to us that there are no material changes.

MR. YAUCH:  There are in material changes.

MS. LONG:  And it is a fair representation of your earth experience.

MR. YAUCH:  Yes, it is.

MS. LONG:  Just in the interest of time, so we can move forward to hear what your findings were.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, that's very helpful to me.

Witnesses, you are authors of the report entitled "Review of regulatory decisions on application for approval of utility mergers and acquisitions in North America”, dated April 11th, 2018?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we are.

MR. YAUCH:  Yes, we are.

MR. RUBIN:  And you have answered interrogatories associated with this evidence, which have also been filed?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Do you adopt those as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Do you have any updates or amendments to that evidence to add today?

MR. YAUCH:  There is one minor update that I think we should lay out.  In response to FRPO number 1, part (d), FRPO was asking us about ESMs and various earnings sharing  mechanisms, and we said there was no deferral more than five years.

In fact, in the case number 2, Algonquin Empire, the deferral was actually 7 years.  They last rebased in 2012, at the end of the stipulation agreement, they are going to rebase again in 2019, so it’s 7 years.  That was seen as a benefit to ratepayers in that case, because they’re on a cost-of-service.  So there is one longer than five years, so we laid that out there.

MR. RUBIN:  And with that one amendment, to the best of your knowledge, are the report and the interrogatory responses true and accurate?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Did you both respond to that?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Good.  Can you outline briefly what you have set out in your evidence, and its possible assistance to the Board in dealing with the issues in this proceeding?

MR. LADANYI:  The purpose of our evidence is to provide the Ontario Energy Board assistance in reaching its decision regarding the application for the merger of Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union Gas, and the rate-setting mechanism for the merged utility.

The evidence is a review of regulatory decisions relating to applications for approval of mergers or acquisitions among rate-regulated utilities across North America, approximately over the past decade.

decisions in Ontario were not reviewed, as they are well known to the OEB and many parties in this proceeding.  Also excluded are mergers of federally regulated utilities, as regulation at a federal level is unlikely to be of assistance to the OEB in this application.

As part of our review, we limited our research to decisions from state regulatory commissions in the United States and from the regulatory Commission of one province, Alberta.

In all, we reviewed 29 merger and acquisition decisions.  While the cases and decisions varied, there are remarkable similarities in the process and outcome.  First, a regulatory process in most cases allowed parties to the proceeding adequate time for settlement negotiations with the applicants, and resulted in the complete settlement of all issues in many cases.

The lengthy and detailed stipulations reached as part of the settlement are an important and material difference to the regulatory process in this application, in which there are no planned negotiations among the parties to the proceeding and the applicants.

We have provided a list of the 14 most common stipulations that were negotiated amongst the utilities and parties in the cases reviewed as part of this evidence, and noted that many of these stipulations are absent in this proceeding or materially diminished.

Secondly, the deferral period from the time of the merger until filing of a cost-of-service application was generally two to three years.

As discussed in the report, there are reasons for this relatively short deferral period and for the long deferral period proposed by the applicants in the Enbridge and Union Gas merger in the rate-setting application.

Most often, the utilities proposing to merge were on cost-of-service regulation.  By deferring the opportunity to raise rates and rebase, they were providing a rate freeze for customers.  No case reviewed as part of this evidence proposed a ten-year deferral, or a ten-year rate freeze.

MR. RUBIN:  Mr. Yauch, what are the 14 most common stipulations or conditions of approval that Mr. Ladanyi mentioned?

MR. YAUCH:  So in the interest of time, I'm not going to name all 14 in the report.  But I would like to highlight four that I think are material in this case.

So often we saw job protection, bill credits that would go directly to customers, a rate moratorium or freeze, which is often a delay in a cost-of-service application and extensive ring fencing stipulation.  So often the idea behind that was to protect local ratepayers from risks of the parent company.  In many cases, the stipulations vastly expanded the ring fencing requirements that were there before the merger.

Now, these stipulations, these 14 that were common, they weren't in all of them, but one of them was in at least every application reviewed.  It was these stipulations that pushed an application over the regulatory threshold to approval.

In many cases, the parties didn't agree when the application was first submitted.  But after negotiation and stipulations -- sometimes proposed by parties and sometimes imposed by the regulatory commission -- that's when the merger was approved.

So for us, it was those stipulations that were actually key to almost all merger and amalgamation applications.

MR. RUBIN:  Mr. Ladanyi, your recommendation is that if a deferral period is to be approved by this Board, it should not be greater than five years.  What were your reasons for that recommendation?

MR. LADANYI:  We explained our reasoning in our response to the School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 2, and I will just go over it.

Our main reasoning is a ten-year deferral seems totally out of norm when compared with other jurisdictions that ever approved a merger or an amalgamation.

We don't want to comment on Amalco's application as part of our evidence.  But a ten-year deferral period in this case is largely based on the Ontario-specific policy to encourage consolidation.  And I think that's been covered previously by Board Staff.

Obviously, this Board will determine whether that's appropriate.  But when looking at other jurisdictions, it is certainly out of the norm.

In a recommendation for a maximum five-year deferral, again we didn't say the Board should approve a five-year deferral, just that if a deferral is approved, the maximum should be five years.  We assume that both utilities would operate under an IRM similar to fourth generation IRM, with ICM and DSM for five years

If, in year six, Amalco would file a cost-of-service application for the combined utility, this cost-of-service application would include a thorough review of all cost elements of Amalco, including all outsourcing arrangements and all affiliate transactions between Amalco and all its affiliates, to ensure that they are in full compliance with the Affiliates Relationship Code.

MR. RUBIN:  Mr. Yauch, in that same interrogatory you were also asked to consider a rate freeze.  Please explain your recommendation.

MR. YAUCH:  We didn't explicitly recommend a rate freeze as part of our evidence, but we were asked about it, and in --our response was if the Board were to consider something like that, a rate freeze, we think what was common was two to three years, so we suggested a two-year rate freeze, and in year three, which would be 2021, that the utility would submit its cost to the Board and then we would go on a five-year rate application after that, but it was --two to three years was the general sort of time frame for a rate freeze, and that's why we considered it, but we didn't explicitly argue for it in our evidence.

MR. RUBIN:  Mr. Ladanyi, do you have any concluding remarks?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, the Board should be very cautious when considering promises made by investor-owned gas distributors.  While utilities' customers are captive, in that they cannot easily switch to another gas distributor, utility shareholders are not captive.  They can easily sell their shares at any time.

During my 44 years in the energy utility business, the majority are controlling ownership of Enbridge Gas Distribution, formerly Consumers Gas and Union Gas, have changed many times, and I can tell you all these times but I won't take any time doing it right now.

Drawing from history it is likely that ownership of the proposed Amalco or parts of it will change in future years.  If that happens, promises made today may not be kept ten years from now.

MR. RUBIN:  Madam Chair, that concludes our examination in-chief.  The witnesses are available for cross-examination.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Rubin.

Mr. Cass, I think you are first up on the schedule.

MR. CASS:  Well, I understand I am shown first on the schedule, Madam Chair.  I believe it would be appropriate that any who have questions who are not necessarily adverse in interest to the witnesses would precede me.

I have spoken with Mr. Mondrow.  I believe he has some questions, and I think he is prepared to go ahead of me.

MS. ANDERSON:  That's fine.  I think I had also SEC...

MR. SHEPHERD:  I do not expect to have any questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  So -- and Mr. Mondrow.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good afternoon gentlemen.  Having read your evidence, your interrogatory responses, listening to your testimony this morning, am I correct in concluding that you have found no precedent in the merger cases which you've identified and reviewed for a merger and associated rate-making proposal as favourable to the applicants as that proposed in this proceeding?

MR. LADANYI:  I would say that that's correct.  We have not done.  Maybe there are some hidden things, but we have not come across anything that would be as favourable.  In fact, in most cases the regulator was very concerned about protecting the ratepayers, and they put in place all kinds of forced stipulations on the merging companies to make sure that the ratepayers are protected.

MR. MONDROW:  And my understanding, and I think there was an interrogatory response in which you described your methodology, my understanding is that you have, in fact, followed up and investigated every merger proceeding or merger proposal that you were made aware of in your search?

MR. YAUCH:  We did.  We didn't find new ones, but I should add on this point that we didn't look at mergers in which the commission rejected.  We felt in this case there was sort of a wrinkle here, in that the parent companies have already merged, so this Board is faced with a decision on, if you don't approve the MAADs application, do you then regulate them as if they're merged, so we didn't find situations in which the regulator rejected the application outright to be very helpful.


But there have been recent ones, such in Hawaii, Texas, more -- and in Kansas in which the commission found that the benefits being proposed weren't actually in the public interest.  So we didn't include those in our report, but if there is an undertaking we're happy to talk about them, but that's why we didn't include them.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, having reviewed the mergers approved, which you did review, would it be your view, based on that work, that this Board would be unique if it were to approve a merger on the terms proposed in this case?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And one of the unique features of such an approval, as I understand the material you've provided, would be the very limited and quite far off assurance of ratepayer benefits resulting from the proposed merger and associated rate plan.

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah, so for example, the rate credits that were common to a lot of approvals were almost always explicitly done because the regulator wasn't sure that the long-term benefits would actually flow through the ratepayers, so they said, well, how do we get them up front, and a rate credit is one way to do it.  Some regulators were sceptical of rate credits.  They thought it was essentially taking a pound of flesh in the utility in the short term and there was no benefit in the long term, so it went both ways, but in many cases the rate credit was there to explicitly try to get those benefits to ratepayers because shareholders had already received their benefit in the form of a premium in most cases.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, could you turn with me to your response to Staff's Interrogatory No. 2, and maybe we can just start at -- it's PDF page 11 of your interrogatory response document, if that helps.  And I just want to go to the quote where the quotation starts on that page, which -- thank you -- is on the screen.  And as you've said, I just want to confirm -- this is a quote from the Kansas Corporation's Commission in the consideration of Algonquin Power and Utilities' acquisition of Empire District Electric.  And you offer this quote.  You think that it provides, based on your research, a good example of articulation of the public interest standard as it's been applied by regulators to mergers --


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it does --


MR. MONDROW:  -- utility mergers.  Okay.  And I've read your 14 -- your list of 14 stipulations at the front of your evidence.  But I was interested in one area, the only reference for which I saw in this response, so if you go with me to the top of the next page, it is item number D, and this is part of the Kansas Corporation's Commission excerpt, and Part No. D1 of the public-interest considerations that the KCC provided was:
"Whether the proposed transaction will preserve the jurisdiction of the KCC and the capacity of the KCC to effectively regulate and audit public utility operations in the state."

And I didn't go back to look at the report of the commission, but I took from that quote, and I'm asking you to confirm this, that the concern of the commission was essentially whether the commission would retain oversight authority in respect of the merging utilities.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, and also, I think more specifically, it deals with financial ring fencing in the sense that the new merged regulated utility would be a standalone corporate entity and standalone utility that would provide financial statements, quarterly reports, and whatever is required for a corporate entity on an ongoing basis.  It would not disappear into a larger entity.

And the other part about this is also that it would not be influenced by changes in debt rating of the parent company, so they would -- the Board or the commission could keep looking at the utility after merger entirely as a complete standalone entity.

MR. MONDROW:  And with some transparency and some --


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, most definitely.

MR. MONDROW:  And in your view are there aspects of the proposal before this Board that engage this concern of the KCC as you understand that concern?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I would certainly be concerned if I was the Board about potential financial impacts on the merged utility, because merged utility Amalco is going -- is providing essential service to gas customers in Ontario.

Now, we know, and it's not a secret, and it was in today's Globe & Mail, that Enbridge is under certain financial pressure, and in fact its debt has been downgraded, and again, that's evidence in this proceeding.  So the Board certainly should protect the ratepayers in Ontario from any financial impacts that might result from Enbridge's or a parent company's financial difficulties.

MR. MONDROW:  And could the Board not do that, though, under the proposal as it's been advanced, given the off-ramp proposal and --


MR. LADANYI:  Well, I'm not entirely sure, and it's for the Board to decide.  And I've looked, by the way, at the Affiliate Relationships Code to see if the Affiliate Relationships Code -- this is OEB's Affiliate Relationships Code -- provides the kind of ring-fencing provisions that some of these commissions in the U.S. talked about, and it really doesn't.  It only touches on it barely in the one clause, so the Board should look at it very carefully about what is required to financially protect the ratepayers in Ontario.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Madam Chair, those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  That is all I had on my schedule.  So -- yes, other than obviously back to Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  Mr. Ladanyi, I would like to follow up on some comments you made at the end of that examination.  You referred to what you described as the financial difficulties of Enbridge.

You're referring there to Enbridge Inc., I take it?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I am.

MR. CASS:  Right, and you understand that Enbridge Inc. already is the owner of both -- indirectly, not directly, but is the ultimate parent company of both Union Gas and Enbridge Gas Distribution; correct?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.

Switching to a different subject, I just want to be sure I have an understanding of the work that you did -- the two of you did specifically for the purpose of this review document that you wrote.  So as you've made clear, you reviewed and considered the decisions you've identified in your document?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And those are all -- you've made them readily available; we can all read and consider and see those decisions?

MR. LADANYI:  We have given internet addresses for those.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Some are difficult, by the way, to access, and we apologize for that.  But they are mostly readily available.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  I noted also there is a footnote that referred to the fact that you are providing links to various news articles, so you must also have read some news articles for the purpose of your work?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, actually as we have stated in one response -- I think it was perhaps to Board Staff, I can't remember -- but to find out about which mergers and acquisitions we would be looking at, the fastest way to do it is to check the media and find out which mergers and acquisitions happened, and then follow it up by looking at the regulator commissions website.

MR. CASS:  I see.  So that was your process.  You did a search that took you to media, identified for you the transactions that you wanted to look at, and then you went to the regulatory decisions?

MR. YAUCH:  We also focused on investor-owned utilities.  We tried to keep it at that because we thought that was investor-owned utilities in this case.

MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  But I have otherwise generally described your process?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  I just want to be sure I understand. Is that the full extent of the work you did you specifically to create this document?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we were certainly limited in funds and time, because we were given a very short time to do the work to in, and we also were given a very limited amount of funds.

So certainly if we’d had six months to do it, it probably would have ended in a better report, no question  about it.

MR. CASS:  That’s fine.  I just want to understand what you did, and I think we've confirmed that.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair, thank you.
Questions by the Board:


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  My one question was: Did you compare the statutory provisions in the different jurisdictions, like the different legislative frameworks under which those decisions were made?

MR. YAUCH:  Whether they see net benefit or no harm under that?  The threshold test?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, I mean the section -- what it says in section 43 of our OEB Act versus whatever legislation is in those jurisdictions.  Did you look at that?

MR. LADANYI:  We did not, but it did come up in some of the decisions and I think -- for example, I believe it's in North Carolina, there is a requirement for the merging parties to file a market power study, you know, which actually would have been beneficial here to see if there is an impact on essentially competition in the state.  I think there are two states where they are required to actually file that and they did.

Otherwise, we did not do any detailed study.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. Rubin, do you have anything further?

MR. RUBIN:  I believe not, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  I think with that, we can excuse this panel with thanks to Mr. Yauch and Mr. Ladanyi, and we have a few closing matters that we wanted to discuss.  But thank you very much.
Procedural Matters:


So I think the one outstanding matter was -- well, you may have others, but whether on the 28th there would be oral argument-in-chief or not.  I think one of the difficulties the panel has in making that decision is we actually don't know which undertakings there is going to be cross-examination on.

And we don't have a hearing plan, so we don’t -- we have the 28th only, and we don't have more time.  We don’t have that information to make that determination.  We discussed it last day, about parties highlighting which undertakings they might have cross-examination on, so that we know which panels to bring.  But it also helps us with time.

We also asked Mr. Cass, given that you will only be hearing the cross-examination on those undertakings on that day, you know -- do you wanted to go written, so that you have time to contemplate them as opposed to moving with oral?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I expect I would be able to proceed with argument-in-chief, if it works out for the Board Panel on that day, yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So we would ask that parties provide information to Staff, so we can have the hearing plan and so we can see whether there is time to do that or not.  We really don't have a sense of that.  So if that's okay, then we could defer judgment on that until we see that information.

MR. CASS:  Yes, as you, I think, alluded to, Madam Chair, that would be very helpful to us as well, just so we know which witnesses will need to be there on that day.

MS. ANDERSON:  And I saw some undertakings come in this morning.  I do not know if they have all now been filed.  I didn’t see what came in this morning.  Obviously that will depend -- people will need to see those undertakings before they determine.

MR. MONDROW:  We know at least, Madam Chair, that the undertaking that Mr. Cass addressed first thing this morning obviously has not yet been filed.  I haven't checked the rest, but there’s at least one coming in and as soon as we get that, we'll be able to review it.

MR. CASS:  My sense, Madam Chair, and others can correct me if I'm wrong, is that there will certainly be questions that would be addressed by panel 1.

So it's -- our thinking is that panel 1 will be There, and then the main issue is to what extent do we need more than panel 1.  But others can correct me if I'm wrong.

MS. ANDERSON:  I agree.  It's a given that there are going to be questions, I think, for panel 1.  I agree it's the other two that's the question.  And those undertakings that were in panel 4 that were not for the expert.

Okay.  Any other matters?  Seeing none, everyone have a wonderful long weekend and we close.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:36 p.m.
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